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I. NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS 

This action was filed on July 5, 1978, on behalf 

of the named plaintiff, William B. Weinberger. The complaint 

contains individual and class action claims* arising out of 

the merger on May 26, 1978 of two Delaware corporations, UOP 

Inc. ("UOP") and Sigco Incorporated, a wholly owned subsidiary 

of The Signal Companies, Inc. ("Signal"). 

On December 15, 1978, the plaintiff filed his motion 

for class certification in which he seeks an order certifying 

that all common stockholders of UOP as of May 26, 1978 (other 

than the defendants**) be included in the class and that the 

plaintiff,. William B. Weinberger, be appointed as .the class 

representative. 

Signal opposes the granting of the class action 

order sought by plaintiff on the following grounds: (1) the 

plaintiff, William B. Weinberger, cannot fairly or adequately 

represent the interests of the purported class; and (2) the 

class sought to be certified is too broad and improperly seeks 

to include within that class persons who have no valid or 

enforceable claims. Each of these bases for Signal's opposi­

tion to the class action order are discussed more fully below. 

* The complaint also contains derivative claims as to which 
defendant Signal filed a motion to dismiss. A hearing on 
that motion was held on February 1, 1979, and as of the 
date of this brief was still under submission. 

** The individual defendants named in the complaint were 
dismissed, without prejudice, on February 1, 1979, by 
stipulation and order of this Court. 
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II. STATEMENT OF FACTS* 

A. The Signal Companies, Inc. 

Signal is a publicly held Delaware corporation, 

the stock of which is traded on major U. S. stock exchanges 

and which, on about February 1, 1979, had approximately 38. 3 

million shares of cormnon stock issued and outstanding.** 

Signal conducts all of its business through subsidiaries, the 

principal ones being Mack Trucks, Inc. ("Mack"), the Garrett 

Corporation (''Garrett") , and UOP. Mack, acquired by Signal 

in 1967, is engaged in the manufacture and sale of heavy duty 

motor trucks and related equipment. Garrett, acquired in 

1964, is in the aircraft, aerospace and other transportation 

related equipment business. UOP is engaged in several lines 

of business, including petroleum and petro-chemical services, 

construction and fabricated metal products. Signal also owns 

or has substantial investments in Dunham-Bush, Inc., Signal 

Landmark Properties, Inc., American President Lines, Ltd., 

and Golden West Broadcasters. Signal's gross revenues for 

1978 exceeded $3.5 billion .. 

* The facts set forth in this brief are based on UOP's Proxy 
Statement relating to the subject merger, a copy of which 
is attached to the complaint as Exhibit A, and the deposi­
tions taken and documents produced in this case and the 
Affidavit of Merl B. Peek, the Secretary of UOP. 

** In May, 1978, there were approximately 19 million shares 
outstanding. Since that time there has been a 2 for 1 
stock split. 
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In early 1975, Signal entered into an agreement 

to acquire a 50.5% coimllon stock interest in UOP. Such ac­

quisition was made through a combination of a tender offer 

for 4.3 million shares and a purchase of 1.5 million shares 

directly from UOP. The tender offer was announced on April 21, 

1975, at a price of $21 per share, and was met with such an 

enthusiastic reception by UOP's shareholders that far more 

than the 4.3 million shares were tendered. Because Signal's 

tender offer was for a maximum of 4.3 million shares, and it 

was therefore precluded from purchasing more, Signal purchased 

the tendered shares on a pro rata basis. As a result of the 

tender offer and the direct purchase from UOP, as of May 13, 

1975, Signal was the majority stockholder of UOP with 5.8 

million shares, being 50.5% of the issued and outstanding 

common stock. 

During the period from May, 1975, to about mid­

February, 1978, Signal's stockholdings in UOP remained the 

same. From time to time within that period, Signal's manage­

ment considered a number o·f different business investments 

or acquisitions and, as a part of such considerations, thought 

was given to the acquisition of the balance of UOP's outstand­

ing stock. It was not until early 1978, however, that any 

serious consideration was given to that possibility. 

On February 28, 1978, Signal's Executive Committee 

authorized a possible merger under which Signal would acquire 

for cash the 49.5% of UOP's common stock which Signal did 
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not then own. Press releases were issued and the public 

notified of the possibility of such a merger, subject to 

Board approvals and other conditions, and that the merger 

price then under consideration was between $20-$21 per share. 

On February 28, 1978, the last trading day before the public 

announcement, the trading prices for uop•s stock were between 

$14.50 and $14.75. 

On March 6, 1978, both Signal's Board of Directors 

and UOP's Board of Directors approved a merger at a cash price 

of $21 per share and subject to the terms of a written merger 

agreement. The merger agreement required, among other things, 

that it be submitted to uoP•s stockholders for a vote and 

that the merger could not proceed unless approved by the 

holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares 

of UOP stock, other than those owned by Signal, present and 

voting at a meeting convened for the purpose of voting on the 

merger agreement and requiring, in any event, the approval 

of at least two-thirds of the UOP shares, including Signal's 

shares (50.5%), outstanding on the record date for the meeting. 

By a lengthy Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders 

and Proxy Statement and other documents sent to its stock­

holders, UOP made full disclosure of the proposed merger and 

of the financial data and other business matters relating to 

UOP. This material included the recommendation of UOP's 
(' 

Board that the stockholders vote in favor of the merger, and 
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also a copy of an opinion from the investment banking firm 

of Lehman Brothers Kuhn Loeb Incorporated ("Lehman Brothers") 

to UOP's Board of Directors that the proposed merger was fair 

and equitable to UOP's minority shareholders. 

The annual stockholders meeting d£ .JJJJ·P-rwas held on ____ v 

May 26, 1978, and at that time there were\11,488,302 shares 

of UOP outstanding and entitled to vote. 8,753,812 shares 

(76.2%) voted in favor of the merger; 254,840 shares (2.2%) 

voted against; and the balance of the shares were not voted. 

Of the 3,208,652 non-Signal shares which did vote, the vote in 

favor of the merger was overwhelming: 2,953,812 voted in favor, 

254,840 against, or a ratio of nearly 12 to 1 in favor of the 

merger. On the same day, the merger became effective and, 

pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, each former UOP 

share was converted into a right to receive in cash the sum 

of $21.00. As of January 31, 1979, all of the certificates 

representing the former UOP shares had been surrendered and 

the former UOP shareholders paid $21.00 per share, with the 

exception of certificates representing 147,593 former shares, 

including those previously owned by the plaintiff, William B. 

Weinberger. 

The merger agreement gave Signal the option to 

withdraw from the merger in the event of any challenging liti­

gation brought before the stockholders meeting. No legal pro­

ceedings were undertaken prior to May 26, 1978, to challenge 

the merger or to prevent the holding of the stockholders meet­

ing. At no time has any UOP stockholder (including Weinberger) 
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filed an appraisal proceeding and, with the exception of the 

present lawsuit filed on July 5, 1978, some six weeks after 

completion of the merger, no legal proceedings of any kind 

directed at the merger have been brought. 

B. William B. Weinberger 

The named plaintiff in this action, William B. 

Weinberger ("Weinberger") is an 81 year old, "substantially 

retired" CPA who lives in New York City. 

Weinberger's first contact with UOP occurred in 

April, 1975. On April 23, 1975, two days after Signal had 

announced its tender offer for UOP stock at $21 per share, in 

an arbitrage transaction Weinberger bought 200 shares of UOP 

stock at about $17.50 per share and immediately tendered it 

to Signal at the $21 tender price. Signal purchased 110 of 

the 200 shares (as a part of its pro rata purchase of all 

shares tendered), leaving Weinberger with the 90 shares which 

he continued to own until May 26, 1978. 

During the week of February 27, 1978, Weinberger 

learned of the possible Signal-UOP merger from an article in 

the paper, and that the price range under consideration was 

$20-$21 per share. By a letter from UOP's management dated 

March 7, 1978, sent to all UOP stockholders, he was advised 

that UOP's Board had approved Signal's offer at $21 per share 

and that the matter would be put to the stockholders for their 

vote at the annual meeting in May. Weinberger subsequently 

received the Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement sent 

out by the company. 
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Weinberger read carefully through the Proxy Statement 

and, prior to the May 26 stockholders meeting, came to the 

conclusion that the $21 per share merger price was "very 

inadequate". In fact, as early as the week of February 27, 

when he had first heard of the possibility of a merger, he was 

"surprised" at the price range of only $20-$21, but did nothing 

at that time to pursue the matter. After having read through 

the materials furnished to its stockholders by UOP, and having 

looked at the Standard & Poor's Guide, and having concluded on 

the basis thereof that the price was "very inadequate", 

Weinberger then consulted with his attorney, Charles Trynin. 

Notwithstanding the conclusion he had reached, 

Weinberger did not communicate that conclusion to UOP, to 

Signal, or to any other UOP stockholder.* He did not send 

in his proxy nor did he attend the stockholders' meeting or 

vote on the merger agreement. Neither he nor his attorney 

commenced or even threatened any litigation, even though, in 

addition to his conclusions about the inadequacy of the price, 

he had concluded that the Lehman Brothers opinion included 

in the proxy materials was not an outside independent opinion, 

that it was "self-serving", and that it was a negative fa'ctor 

which contributed to his determination not to send in his proxy 

* Weinberger testified that he was not opposed to Signal 
taking over UOP, "if Signal . . . would pay an adequate 
price . . . . " (Weinberger Dep., p. 51). In other words, 
it is clear that Weinberger wanted the merger to go through 
so he could then litigate about the price. He clearly was 
aware that if litigation was started before the merger was 
completed, Signal might withdraw. 
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to vote on the merger.* 

On July 5, 1978, six weeks after the completion of 

the merger, the complaint in this action was filed with 

Weinberger as the named plaintiff. Weinberger testified that 

he read the complaint before it was filed. In the complaint 

there is no prayer or request for rescission. Also, there is 

no allegation that any of the proxy materials were false or 

misleading, or in violation of law. The merger is denominated 

as "illegal" because of the alleged absence of a bona fide 

business purpose, and the price of $21 is alleged to be "grossly 

inadequate". All in all, it is clear that this is and always 

has been an action where the only relief being sought is money 

damages.** 

C. Weinberger as Class Representative 

In several recent federal court decisions, it is 

clear that certain facts about a class representative are 

relevant. For example, in In re Goldchip Funding, 61 F.R.D. 

592, 594-595 (M.D. Pa. 1974), the court stated: 

* At his deposition, Weinberger said that prior to the May 26 
meeting he, personally, had found no misstatements, omis­
sions or errors in any of UOP '.s proxy materials. His attor­
ney would not permit him to answer questions on this subject 
for the period after the meeting (Weinberger Dep., pp. 51-
53). 

** In fact, at the argument held on February 1, 1979, Weinberger's 
counsel advised this Court: "The class action clearly is a 
monetary recovery for the difference in value [of the minority 
shares] .... " (Transcript of 2/1/79 Hearing, p. 26). 
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"In my view, facts regarding the personal 
qualities of the representatives themselves 
are relevant, indeed necessary, in determining 
whether 'the representative parties will fairly 
and adequately protect the interests of the 
class.' F.R.Civ.P. 23(a)(4). Because absent 
members of the class would be conclusively 
bound by the results obtained by these repre­
sentatives and their attorneys, due process 
requires that they be more than pro forma re­
presentatives. Cf. Hansberr} v. Lee, 311 U.S. 
32, 61 S. Ct. 115, 85 L.Ed. 2 (1940). The 
class is entitled to more than blind reliance 
upon even competent counsel by uninterested 
and inexperienced representatives. A proper 
representative can offer more to the prosecu­
tion of a class action than mere fulfillment 
of the procedural requirements of Rule 23. 
He can, for example, offer his ·personal know­
ledge of the factual circumstances, and aid 
in rendering decisions on practical and non­
legal problems which arise during the course 
of litigation. An a·ttorney who prosecutes a 
class action with unfettered discretion be­
comes, in fact, the representative of the 
class. This is an unacceptable situation 
because of the possible conflicts of interest 
involved. See Graybeal v. American Savings 
and Loan Association, 59 F.R.D. 7 (D.D.C. 
1973)." (Emphasis added.) 

This language was cited with approval in Greenspan 

v. Brassler, 78 F.R.D. 130 (S.D.N.Y. 1978). More on this sub-

ject will be said, infra, and the foregoing is offered at this 

point as a preface to the following recital of facts concerning 

Weinberger. 

When Weinberger's deposition was taken in New York 

in December, 1978, approximately five months after the action 

was filed, he clearly demonstrated little, if any, knowledge 

of the case. 
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1. Although the heart of the case is the proper 

or fair value of the UOP shares, i.e., whether the $21 per 

share paid was fair and ad~quate, Weinberger did not know 

what the fair value was although he said he had made some 

"scratch notes" and was now of the opinion that $32 per share 

would "not be excessive" (Weinberger Dep., pp. 46-47). 

On this subject, Weinberger has no knowledge as to 

whether a security or financial analyst or adviser has been 

retained in connection with this litigation. As he said 

(id. at p. 99), his attorney, Charles Trynin, told him that 

some papers had been submitted to a financial analyst, but 

he, Weinberger, has "no idea who or what or when." Weinberger 

neither asked nor was he told what financial arrangements, if 

any, had been made with the financial analyst to whom the 

documents were sent (id. at pp. 99-100). He also said that 

if the financial analyst told his attorney anything, "I have 

no idea about whatever the analyst told him" (id. at p. 101). 

For all, then, that Weinberger himself knows, some 

financial analyst may already have reported to Weinberger's 

counsel that $21 per share was a fair and adequate price. 

For all Weinberger himself knows (and apparently cares less) 

he in fact may have no lawsuit worth pursuing. This is extra­

ordinary in view of his stated financial arrangements. 

2. Weinberger has no written agreement with his 

counsel regarding legal representation, costs, fees and the 
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like (id. at pp. 89-90). He testified, however, that he, 

Weinberger, "supposes" that he is to be fully responsible 

for all costs of the litigation (id. at p. 100). But, (a) he 

has never received any estimate of what the costs and expenses 

might be (id. at pp. 58-59); and (b) as of December he had not 

been billed by his attorney for any costs nor did he even know 

what costs had been spent. All of these costs have been paid 

by his counsel (id. at pp. 100-101). 

3. Signal in no way challenges the legal ability 

and experience of either Weinberger~s counsel, William Prickett, 

or his firm, Prickett, Ward, Burt & Sanders. However, it is 

relevant to note that the first time Weinberger ever had any 

communication, written or oral, with either Mr. Prickett or 

any member of his firm was two days before Weinberger's depo­

sition, nearly five months after this lawsuit, in which Mr. 

Prickett is the lead counsel, was filed!* (Id. at p. 103.) 

4. During his deposition, Weinberger again and 

again indicated clearly that he has no real knowledge of this 

case, and that it is being conducted by his attorneys as they 

see fit. 

(a) On December 6, 1978, he was asked if there 

were any motions pending in this case. Weinberger answered, 

* It is also noteworthy in this context that Mr. Prickett re­
presented Mr. Weinberger in a derivative action before this 
Court, Weinberger v .. Stewart, C. A. :/fo5146. Settlement of 
that case was approved by Chancellor Marvel on November 16, 
1977. Presumably then, Mr. Weinberger never communicated 
with his counsel in that case, even though the latter was 
awarded a fee of $75,000. 
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"I don't believe so. Not yet." (Id. at p. 133.) In fact, 

at that time defendant Signal's motion to dismiss the deriva­

tive· claims in Weinberger's complaint had been filed and only 

about three weeks before a lengthy brief in opposition to 

such motion had been filed by Weinberger's counsel. 

Also, motions had previously been filed and were 

then pending to dismiss the individual defendants. Only two 

days before his deposition Weinberger's counsel had filed a 

discovery motion to compel certain deposition answers. In 

other words, on December 6 there were three motions pending 

in this case, and Weinberger was unaware of any'. 

(b) Weinberger was asked on· December 6 whether 

there were then any depositions scheduled but yet untaken. 

His answer was, "Not that I know of." (Id. at p. 133.) In 

fact, as of that time, four depositions were then scheduled 

only one week later, on December 13 and 14 in Los Angeles (the 

costs, including travel expenses, of those depositions were, 

presumably, Weinberger's responsibility, but he knew nothing 

about them). These depositions were of four of Signal's top 

executives, including its President, Chairman of the Board 

and chief financial officer, yet he did not know of any of 

them. 

(c) This litigation had its· inception when 

Weinberger visited one of his attorneys, Charles Trynin, and 

turned over the papers dealing with the UOP merger (id. at 

p. 87). The complaint was drafted by his attorneys; Weinberger 
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did not review it before it was put in final form; and although 

he read it before it was filed, Weinberger recommended no 

changes or additions to the complaint (id. at p. 91). At 

least in part, the only information about certain of the com­

plaint's allegations were obtained by Weinberger from his 

attorneys (id. at pp. 93-94). 

(d) Weinberger himself does not know any other 

stockholder of UOP, and he has never at any time consulted with 

any other UOP stockholder relative to the UOP/Signal merger 

(id. at p. 129). 

(e) Although he testified in response to Mr. 

Prickett's questions that other cases in which he had been 

involved had been tried to a conclusion (i.d. at p. 111), on 

re-cross-examination, it was clear that although he has been 

involved in many prior lawsuits, he didn't know the difference 

between a settlement and a trial to judgment (id. at pp. 129-

130). 

(f) Although he said he was of the opinion 

that the best way to handle this case was as a class action, 

and that he had authorized his counsel to proceed on that 

basis (dep., p. 125), on re-cross it was obvious that Weinberger 

has no more idea than the man in the moon what is required to 

maintain a class action (dep., pp. 133-135). 
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III. QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
(Stated Affirmatively) 

A. WEINBERGER WILL NOT FAIRLY AND ADEQUATELY 

REPRESENT THE INTERESTS OF THE "CLASS". 

B. ALL UOP STOCKHOLDERS WHO VOTED IN FAVOR OF 

THE MERGER OR WHO SURRENDERED THEIR SHARES 

SHOULD BE EXCLUDED FROM ANY CLASS WHICH THE 

COURT MAY CERTIFY. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Weinberger Will Not Fairly And Adequately 
Represent The Interests Of The "Class11-. 

As stated earlier in this brief, Signal opposes 

certification of the present action as a class action on the 

grounds, among others, that the only named plaintiff, William 

B. Weinberger, cannot fairly or adequately represent the in­

terests of the purported class. 

Rule 23 of the Chancery Court Rules, entitled "Class 

Actions,"* contains certain conditions precedent which must 

be met in order to maintain a class action, including Rule 

23(a)(4) which states: 

"[T]he representative parties will fairly 
and adequately protect the interests of 
the class." 

Defendant Signal respectfully submits that in this 

case, this condition precedent has not been met. 

At the outset, the burden is on the plaintiff seek­

ing class certification to establish that he will adequately 

represent the interests of the proposed class. Flamm v. 

Eberstadt, 72 F.R.D. 187 (N.D. Ill. 1976). As stated by the 

court in Blumenthal v. Great American Mortgage Investors, 

74 F.R.D. 508, 511 (1976): 

"At the outset, we note that the burden 
of demonstrating that the prerequisites 
of Rule 23 have been satisfied falls on 

* This rule is substantially identical to Rule 23 of the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which deals with class 
actions in the federal courts. 
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those who seek to maintain the class action. 
[citations] Thus, the named class repre­
sentative must demonstrate that all the re­
quirements-or-Rule 23(a) have been satis­
fied . . . . " (Emphasis added.) 

The adequacy of representation is a "critical" 

factor in determining class maintainability. Id. at p. 513. 

"Prior to certification of a class, a court 
must find that the named re~resentatives 
of the class will fairly an adequately 
protect the interests of the class. 'Basic 
considerations of fairness require that a 
court undertake a stringent and continuing 
examination of the adequacy of representa­
tion by the named class representatives at 
all stages of the litigation . . ' " 
(Emphasis added.) 

Susman v. Lincoln American Corp., 561 F.2d 86, 89 (7th Cir. 1977). 

As indicated in the immediately preceding quotation, 

the question of the a~equacy of class representation must be 

focused on the named representative of the class, in this case 

Mr. Weinberger, and not solely on the competency of plaintiff's 

counsel.* See also, Levine v. Berg, 79 F.R.D. 95 (S.D.N.Y. 

1978); Greenspan v. Brassler, 78 F.R.D. 130 (S.D.N.Y. 1978); 

Blumenthal v. Great American Mortgage Investors, supra; Tomkin 

v. Kaysen, 69 F.R.D. 541 (S.D.N.Y. 1976). 

"The class is entitled to more than blind 
reliance upon even competent counsel by 
uninterested and inexperienced representa­
tives. A proper representative can offer 
more to the prosecution of a class action 
than mere fulfillment of the procedural 
requirements of Rule 23. He can for ex­
ample, offer his personal knowledge of 

* Defendant Signal does not contest the ability or competence 
of either William Prickett or of his firm to prosecute a 
class action. Defendant's challenge is to Weinberger's 
competence. 
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the factual circumstances, and aid in ren­
dering decisions on practical and nonlegal 
problems which arise during the course of 
litigation. An attorney who prosecutes a 
class action with unfettered discretion 
becomes, in fact, the representative of 
the class. This is an unacceptable situa­
tion because of the possible conflicts of 
interest involved." Greenspan v. Brassler, 
78 F.R.D. 130, 133 (S.D.N.Y. 1978) (quot­
ing from In re Goldchi~ Funding Co., 61 
F.R.D. 592 (M.D. Pa. 1 74)). 

In denying plaintiffs' motion for class action 

certification, the court in Greenspan called attention to 

the limited personal knowledge of plaintiffs of the facts 

underlying the suit, "as well as their apparently superfluous 

role in the litigation to date." 78 F.R.D. 133-134. Among 

other factors, the court noted that plaintiffs had not met 

with their attorney until the basic groundwork of the action 

had been laid. 

Equally illuminating are some of the considerations 

stated by the court in Levine v. Berg, supra, when it denied 

plaintiff's motion for class certification. 

"Plaintiff's unfamiliarity with matters 
relating to her claim permeates her testi­
mony .... Plaintiff's deposition testi­
mony reveals an alarming adversity to 
unearthing the facts relative to her 
claim, as well as a total reliance on 
her counsel .... In view of plaintiff's 
lack of personal knowledge of, and unwill­
ingness to learn about, the facts upon which 
her complaint is based, and the undue em­
phasis she has placed on her attorney's 
ability to investigate and prosecute this 
suit, the mere fact that plaintiff has 
brought this suit. and is able to bear its 
costs is of no consequence." 79 F.R.D. 
97-98. ' 
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In the present case, the facts about the plaintiff, 

William Weinberger, are strikingly similar to the facts in 

Greenspan and Levine, and defendant Signal respectfully sub­

mits that Weinberger's motion for class certification should 

likewise be denied. 

Based upon his deposition testimony, it seems clear 

that after it had occurred to Weinberger to question the 

adequacy of the merger price of $21 per share, he turned the 

matter over to his attorney, Charles Trynin, and left the 

decision up to Trynin as to whether an action should be filed 

and, if so, the type and scope of the action. As Weinberger 

said in his deposition: "Yes, I gave him [Trynin] the papers 

and asked him to study them, and if he felt, after talking to 

me again, there was a basis for action, he was empowered to 

proceed" (Weinberger Dep., p. 87). After that, Trynin did 

go ahead and draft a complaint, which Weinberger never reviewed 

until it was in final form, and then although Weinberger says 

that he read the complaint before it was filed, he made no 

changes or additions thereto. As he said, "I was satisfied 

with it, prior to its being drawn." (Emphasis added.) (Id. 

at p. 91.) 

On being asked about specific facts known to him 

which formed the basis of the allegations contained in the 

complaint, Weinberger clearly possessed no such facts (id. 

at pp. 91-96). Weinberger's knowledge about the allegations 
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of the complaint are based upon his guesses, speculation, 

and upon information obtained by his attorneys. For example, 

on being asked what facts, if any, he had concerning the 

allegation of the complaint that there was a "plan, conspir-

acy or scheme with others," Weinberger -answered: "It is 

obvious that the people who were acquiring the company had 

discussions amongst themselves, and whether we used the 

words in the complaint or other words to describe their 

conferences and discussions and agreements, would be irnma-

terial in my opinion." (Id. at p. 93). 

Of greater importance, and perhaps the most impor­

tant indicator of Weinberger's lack of personal knowledge 

and involvement in the direction of this case is his total 

lack of familiarity with the subject of a financial analyst. 

His attorney, Trynin, told Weinberger that certain papers 

had been submitted to a financial analyst, but Weinberger 
\_ 

himself has "no idea who or what or when" (id. at p. 99). 

Weinberger has never been told of the results, if any, ob­

tained from the financial analyst and he has never asked: 

(Id. at pp. 95-100). Weinberger to this day has no knowledge 

of what, if anything, the financial analyst may have told 

his attorneys. As he testified, "I have no idea about what-

ever the analyst told him [Trynin]." (Id. at p. 101.) 

What greater indication can there be of Weinberger's 

unwillingness to himself pursue the facts in this case than 

his complete detachment from the subject of a financial analyst? 
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The core of this action is the adequacy of the price paid by 

Signal to the UOP shareholders and, in substance, if it 

turns out that the $21 per share price paid by Signal was 

fair and adequate, neither Weinberger nor any member of 

the class whom he seeks to represent has a claim against 

Signal. Notwithstanding, Weinberger himself has done nothing 

more than make some "rough calculations" about the adequacy 

of the price, and has done absolutely nothing to inform him­

self about the subject of the adequacy or inadequacy of the 

$21 per share price paid. In fact, he has left it entirely 

to his counsel to find and retain a financial analyst, and 

to communicate with that financial analyst and deal with what­

ever findings, conclusions or result that analyst may have 

reached. How, then, conceivably can Weinberger make any 

intelligent value judgments as to the conduct of this case, 

since he really does not know whether he has any case at all! 

Weinberger's unfamiliarity with this case is also 

evidenced by a number of other things contained in his depo­

sition. For example, he was unaware at the time of his depo­

sition of any pending motions. In fact, at that time there 

were three motions pending of which certainly two were quite 

important: one motion was that of Signal to dismiss the 

derivative counts of the complaint. In response to this 

motion, plaintiff's counsel had filed a lengthy brief several 

weeks before Weinberger's deposition, and indeed plaintiff's 

20. 



counsel has throughout vigorously opposed the motion to dis­

miss the derivative counts. Weinberger was wholly unaware 

of the entire subject matter. 

Another motion which was pending at the time of 

Weinberger's deposition was the motion to dismiss the indi­

vidual defendants. If, in fact, Weinberger had participated 

in the decision making process about the nature and scope 

of the litigation, surely he would have known and been aware 

that a number of individual defendants had been named in the 

complaint, and why.· The fact that the individual defendants 

had sought to dismiss themselves from this case would certainly 

have been a relevant matter to anyone concerned about, and 

paying any attention to the litigation and its conduct. In 

fact, Weinberger knew nothing whatsoever about this motion in 

ea~ly December when his deposition was taken. He also did not 

know that his counsel had filed a discovery motion seeking to 

compel additional answers from one of the principal witnesses 

in the case. 

On the general subject of discovery, notwithstand­

ing the fact that there were several depositions scheduled 

in Los Angeles the week after his own deposition in New 

York, Weinberger knew nothing about them. It can reason­

ably be concluded, therefore, that Weinberger had not been 

consulted either about the taking of those depositions in 

Los Angeles by his· counsel or about the reasons therefor, 

or the costs that might be incurred in connection therewith. 
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On the subject matter of costs and expenses, "the 

mere fact that plaintiff has brought [a] suit and is able 

to bear its costs is of no consequence. 11 Levine v. Berg, 

supra. On the subject of payment of costs in this case, 

apparently there has been no express agreement reached 

between Weinberger and his counsel about the payment of such 

costs. He stated in his deposition that he "supposes" that 

he is to be fully responsible for all costs of the litigation; 

however, he has never received any estimate of what those 

costs and expenses might be. Notwithstanding the fact that 

substantial costs have been incurred in the case, he has 

neither been told what those costs were nor has he been billed 

for any part of them; and all of the costs of conducting this 

litigation have been paid to date by his counsel. 

Before leaving the subject of payment of the costs 

of this litigation, another point is relevant. In Tomkin v. 

Kaysen, supra, the court stated: 

"It is clear that the cost of notice of 
the class must be borne by plaintiff. 
Eisen v. Carlisle & Jacquelin, 417 U.S. 
156, 94 S. Ct. 2140, 40 L. Ed~ 2d 732 
(1974). Plaintiff was unwilling to 
state that she was aware of the possible 
cos ts she could incur under an ord·er 
properly calling for individual mailed 
notice to the class. Although her at­
torney stated for the record that he 
felt that she would pay for whatever 
notice the court ordered, she would not 
agree herself. On the other hand, her 
attorney would not allow her to adopt 
his statement. Plaintiffts hesitation 
is an element going toward the possible 
vigor employed in protecting the rights 
of the class." 69 F. R. D, 543-544. 
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In the present case, plaintiff's counsel has provided 

to the Court a proposed "Order on Certification of Class Action." 

There is nothing said in that proposed order about payment of 

costs to notify the class. Also, in his deposition, as pre­

viously indicated, Weinberger testified that he has been given 

no estimate of costs and has no idea whatsoever as to what the 

costs may be that would be incurred in this action. The unwill­

ingness of the plaintiff (up to this point at least), to step 

up and recognize the potential liability for such costs is, 

Signal submits, another factor which points towards Weinberger's 

lack of suitability as a class representative. 

The Tomkin opinion is also illuminating in other 

ways as to the requirements of a proper class representative. 

The court in Tomkin found that the plaintiff had not met the 

requirements of Rule 23(a)(4) and, among other factors to 

which the court pointed in reaching that conclusion, was the 

plaintiff's lack of knowledge of the duties of a class action 

representative. 69 F.R.D. at p. 54. In the present case, 

Weinberger was asked by his own counsel whether it would be 

appropriate that the action be certified as a class action. 

In response, Weinberger stated, "I think that is the best way 

to proceed. 11 (Weinberger Dep., p. 125.) However, on redirect 

examination, when asked about that answer and the criteria 

which the court would consider in deciding whether an action 

was a proper class action, Weinberger stated: "I am not a 

lawyer. I don't know if I can answer that question." (Id. 
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at pp. 134-135.) In other words, Mr. Weinberger has no 

independent knowledge of what it is to have a class action, 

or what criteria go into making up a proper class action. 

He, as the plaintiff, has said that this should be carried 

on as a class action but clearly does not know what that means. 

As with everything else, he has just left it up to his lawyers. 

Also, in Tomkin, ~he court pointed out that the 

plaintiff had not met her attorney until the first day of 

her deposition. In that respect, this case is very similar 

to Tomkin. It is true that one of plaintiff's counsel, Charles 

Trynin, is a longtime friend and counsel for Weinberger in 

various litigations; however, William Prickett, who is obviously 

the lead counsel in this case and whose firm would clearly be 

the one carrying the laboring oar if this case goes forward, 

had never met, spoken or in any way communicated with Wein­

berger until two days before Weinberger's deposition, nearly 

five months after the complaint in the action was filed. 

Based ~pon the foregoing, and upon the additional 

factors set forth in this brief at pages 6-14, supra, Signal 

respectfully submits that the plaintiff has failed to carry 

his burden of showing that he is a proper representative of 

the class as required under Rule 23(a)(4), and that therefore 

the plaintiff's motion for class certification should be 

denied. 
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B. All UOP Stockholders Who Voted In Favor 
Of The Merger Or Who Surrendered Their 
Shares Should Be Excluded From Any Class 
Which The Court May Certify. 

Signal respectfully submits that the class which 

plaintiff here seeks to have certified, namely, all minority 

stockholders of UOP as of May 26, 1978, embracing some 

5,688,302 shares, is improper, and on that basis requires 

that plaintiff's present motion be denied. 

Although Signal, as the owner of 50.5% of the out­

standing shares of UOP, had the ability under § 251 unilaterally 

to effect the subject merger, Signal chose, however, to condi-

tion any merger on the affirmative vote of a majority of the 

minority shareholders present and voting at the annual meeting.* 

Thus, despite Signal's majority ownership of UOP, the voluntarily 

imposed "super-majority" vote provision of the merger agreement 

required affirmative acceptance of the proposed transaction by 

a majority of the minority shares present and voting at the 

meeting. 

The Proxy Statement and other documents which UOP 

provided to ·its shareholders contained extensive financial 

data about UOP as well as detailed information concerning the 

terms and effects of the proposed merger, the business and 

recent financial history of UOP, the interests of directors 

* In addition, the merger agreement required the affirmative 
vote of no fewer than two-thirds of all outstanding shares, 
including those owned by Signal, entitled to vote on the 
matter. 
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and officers in the outcome of the merger, UOP stock price 

market information, appraisal rights, federal income tax 

consequences, source of funds and pending litigation. The 

Proxy Statement also advised the UOP shareholders that Lehman 

Brothers had opined to the UOP Board of Directors that the 

proposed merger was fair and equitable to UOP's minority 

shareholders, and a copy of Lehman Brothers' opinion letter 

to that effect was attached as an exhibit to the Proxy Statement. 

After receipt of the complete disclosure of the 

relevant facts as set forth in the Proxy Statement and other 

documents, a majority of the minority shares of UOP were 

voted in favor of the merger. In fact, of the 3,208,652 

minority shares which were voted either by proxy or in person 

at the meeting, 2,953,812, or 92%, were voted in favor of 

the transaction. Moreover, as of January 31, 1979, out of 

the total of 5,688,302 former minority shares, certificates 

representing only 147,593, or only about 2-1/2% of all the 

former minority shares, had not been exchanged for the merger 

consideration of $21.00 per share. 

It has long been the law of Delaware: 

"As a general rule equity will not hear a 
complainant stultify himself by complaining 
against acts in which he participated or 
of which he has demonstrated his approval 
by sharing in their benefits." 

Trounstine v. Remington Rand, Inc., Del. Ch., 194 A. 95, 99 (1937). 

In Trounstine, the charter of Remington Rand was amended, upon 

the vote of two-thirds of each class of stock, so as to reclassify 
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the stock structure of the company. As a result of the re­

classification plaintiff's first preferred shares were changed 

into shares having different rights and preferences and cumu-

lative dividends of $26.25 per share were extinguished. Plain­

tiff had voted against the reclassification. In addition, 

prior to the vote on the plan of reclassification, plaintiff 

had sought in the Supreme Court' of New York to enjoin the 

company and its directors from taking any action in further-

ance of the plan. However, on advice of counsel, the motion 

for injunctive relief was withdrawn. Approximately 9 months 

after the reclassification, plaintiff surrendered his first 

preferred shares in exchange for the new stock which he was 

entitled to receive pursuant to the reclassification. Plain-

tiff thereafter filed an action in this Court demanding accu­

mulated dividend arrearages on his old stock, and also request-

ing rescission of the reclassification on the ground that the 

transaction was void. The Chancellor dismissed the complaint 

on the ground that, although he had voted against the reclassi-

fication, the plaintiff had acquiesced in the transaction by 

surrendering his old stock for the new. The Court stated: 

"The new securities received in lieu of the 
old must in reason be regarded as accept­
able to the holders of the old in liquida­
tion of all capital and dividend rights 
theretofore belonging to them. No other 
sensible view of the matter can be enter-
tained. He who accepts the new rights 
ought to be regarded as expressing an 
agreement to let. go of the old ones." 

194 A. 99. In short, even though plaintiff had voted against 
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the transaction and had filed an earlier action attacking it, 

he was estopped from challenging the reclassification in this 

Court because he had accepted the benefits of the plan. 

In Elster v. American Airlines, Inc., Del. Ch., 100 

A. 2.d 219 (1953), plaintiffs brought an action challenging a 

stock option plan for the benefit of American Airlines' 

executive employees. The defendants moved to dismiss as to 

one of the defendants on the ground that she had voted in 

favor of the adoption of the plan. In granting that motion, 

this Court held: 

"It is well established that a stock­
holder cannot complain of corporate action 
in which, with full knowledge of all the 
facts, he or she has concurred. Finch v. 
Warrior Cemen·t Corporation, 16 Del. Ch. 
44, 141 A. 54. There is no averment in 
the complaint of any failure on the part 
of defendant, or of any of those charged 
with its management, to make full disclo­
sure of all the facts relating to the 
option plans sought to be attacked. Ac­
cording to the affidavit offered by de­
fendant, which is not disputed, all facts 
pertinent to the option plans had been 
placed upon the public records of the 
New York Stock Exchange and had been for­
warded to every stockholder of record of 
defendant, as requird by the regulations 
of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
She therefore had ample notice of all per­
tinent facts surrounding the adoption of 
the option plans at the time the shares 
which she held were voted in favor thereof. 
Goldboss v. Reimann, D.C.S.D.N.Y., 55 F. 
Supp. 811. 

"I therefore conclude that plaintiff 
Anna F. Cohen has no standing to attack the 
options issued according to the stock option 
plan and that surrnnary judgment must be en­
tered against her." 
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Id. at 100 A.2d 221. See also, Fra.~k v. Wilson & Co., Inc., 

Del. Supr., 32 A.2d 277 (1943); Gottlieb v. McKee, Del. Ch., 

107 A.2d 240, 244 (1954); Goodman v. Futrovsky, Del. Supr., 

213 A.2d 899 (1965). See generally, 13 Fletcher, Cyclopedia 

Corporations§ 5862 at p. 200 (1970 Rev. Vol.). 

The complaint in this action does not allege that 

the Proxy Statement or other documents submitted by UOP to 

its stockholders were false or misleading. In fact, plain­

tiff testified that he had come to the conclusion that the 

$21.00 merger price was inadequate based on the information 

set forth in the Proxy Statement. For example, Weinberger 

testified: 

"Q What information contained within 
the UOP annual statement did you look at or 
review, in coming to your conclusion that 
the price of $21 per share was very inade­
quate? 

"A The company uses the last in, 
first out method of valuing their inventory 
and I believe that this proxy statement it­
self, meaning the 1978 proxy statement, in­
dicates -- states rather plainly that there 
is an undervaluation of inventory of $18 
million. It further states in another sec­
tion that the plant and the equipment on 
a current basis would be worth $58 million 
more than it cost, less depreciation at 
which it is carried in the balance sheet 
and on the books of the company." 

* * * 
nQ Other than the material with respect 

to the possible understatement of inventory 
of $18 million and the accounting for plant 
and equipment; was there any other information 
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contained in any of the material which you had 
either in your file or set forth in the proxy 
statement which led you to conclude that the 
price of $21 per share was, and I believe you 
used the term in the previous answer, very 
inadequate? 

"A Yes. I have in my possession Standard 
& Poor's Stock Guide, which. will show all listed 
companies' earnings and also had the company's 
report, showing that the company had become very 
successful beginning at least in 1975, had earn­
ings in '75, 1 76, '77 and '78 in excess of the 
amount that they paid as dividends[*], which 
is usual enough and that would be at least -­
these retained earnings by UOP had increased 
.the value of the stock and we also have the 
matter of inflation, the reduced value of the 
dollar. 

"The dollar in 1978 certainly doesn't 
buy what it bought in 1975. In 1975 there was 
a $21 price .. Judging just by this· two things 
and the inventory valuation and the plant and 
equipment, there would be reason to believe 
that, again, that the price was inadequate. 

"Q Have you told us now all of the infor­
mation which you considered in coming up with 
your conclusion that the price of $21 per share 
was very inadequate? 

"A [T]hat's all I can recollect." 

Weinberger Dep., pp. 36-38. Weinberger also testified that 

he discounted the Lehman Brothers' fairness opinion because 

it was disclosed in the Proxy Statement that the managing di­

rector of Lehman Brothers who had signed the opinion letter 

was a director of UOP (id. at pp. 97-98). This is a further 

confirmation that a full disclosure of all relevant facts was 

made in the Proxy Statement. 

* In fact, the Proxy Statement discloses that 
in which Signal acquired its 50.5% of UOP's 
losses of $34.8 million ($3.19 per share). 
<lends were reduced from their 1975 level of 
to 22.5¢ per share (Comp., Ex. A, p. 15). 
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It is clear that if the informat.Lon. provided by 

UOP to its stockholders was sufficient to permit Weinberger 

to arrive at a reasoned conclusion about the fairness and 

adequacy of the $21 price offered, it was adequate for that 

same purpose with respect to UOP's other stockholders. And, 

the facts show that nearly 98% of UOP's minority stockholders 

who either voted in favor of the merger and/or subsequently 

turned in their shares for cash disag~ with Weinberger's 

conclusion. 

This case ther·efore presents a much different 

situation from that faced by this Court in Singer v. Magnavox 

Co., Del. Ch.,~- A.2d ~- (1978) (opinion on class certifi­

cation after remand). In Singer, the parent owned almost 85% 

of the outstanding stock of the subsidiary, and the minority· 

shareholders were advised that the merger would be consummated 

regardless of their vote. Because the complaint in Singer 

alleged that the parent had breached its fudiciary obligation 

to the minority by means of its majority position, this Court 

concluded that the class should consist of all public minority 

shareholders on the day prior to the subject merger. 

In the instant case, Signal did not accomplish the 

merger by means of its majority position. On the contrary, 

on its own volition Signal structured the merger proposal in 

such a way that its acceptance or rejection was left to the 

minority stockholders themselves. After their receipt and 

review of the Proxy Statement, the minority stockholders 
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themselves voted to approve the merger, and only after that 

vote was the merger completed. It is also significant to 

note that a majority of all minority shareholders voted in 

favor of the merger, even though only a majority of those 

actually voting was required. 

In summary, under Delaware law, and the law generally 1 

a stockholder is estopped to challenge a corporate transaction 

which he has affirmatively approved, or with respect to which 

he has accepted benefits, after disclosure of all material 

facts. As stated in 13 Fletcher, Cyclopedia Corporations § 5862 

at p. 200 (1970 Rev. Vol.): 

"A stockholder who, with knowledge of 
the facts, himself has given consent to, 
or acquiesced in, acts of the directors 
or other corporate officers, or of majo­
rity stockholders, cannot ordinarily at­
tack such acts afterwards. And this ap­
plies equally well to ultra vires acts. 
. . . So a stockholder cannot attack a 
wrongful or ultra vires act, where he 
has accepted pecuniary benefits there­
under, with knowledge of the facts. 
Acceptance of dividends resulting from 
the act or thing complained of has in 
several instances been held to work an 
estoppel." 

In light of the authorities cited and discussed 

herein, those minority shareholders of UOP who voted in favor 

of the subject merger or who have since surrendered their 

shares in exchange for the merger price of $21.00 per share 

cannot properly be included in any class which the Court may 

certify. In other words, if any class is certified, it should 
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include only those former shareholders of UOP who did not 

vote in favor of the merger and/ or have not exchanged their 

certificates for the $21.00 per share merger price. 
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V. · CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, plaintiff's motion for class 

certification should be denied. In the alternative, all UOP 

shareholders who voted in favor of the merger or who surren­

dered their shares in exchange for the merger price should be 

excluded from any class which the Court may certify. 
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